IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA IN

DOCKET NO. 21-1001

CITY OF WHEELING,

Defendant Below/Petitioner,

v.

DO NOT REMOVE

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA and CITY OF BENWOOD,

Respondents.

CITY OF WHEELING PETITION FOR APPEAL FROM AND SUSPENSION OF THE NOVEMBER 12, 2021 and DECEMBER 1, 2021 ORDERS OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA IN CASE NO. 21-0372-S-WI

Rosemary Humway-Warmuth (WVSB #6693) Office of City Solicitor City of Wheeling 1500 Chapline Street Wheeling, WV 26003

Telephone: (304) 234-3736 rhwarmuth@wheelingwv.gov

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Public Service Commission erred in exercising subject matter jurisdiction and exceeded its authority when it issued a final decision after the expiration of the time period provided in *West Virginia Code* §24-2-1(b)(6) for the Commission to resolve a dispute between a wholesale customer and a locally rate regulated municipality.
- B. The Public Service Commission erred and exceeded its authority when it entered a third tolling order because *West Virginia Code* §24-2-1(b)(6) authorizes tolling only when the Public Service Commission requests additional information and does not authorize tolling based on the complexity of a case.
- C. The Public Service Commission acted arbitrarily and capriciously when it made its third tolling calculation in a manner that was contrary to the Commission's first and second tolling calculations in this case and to established Commission policy and practice.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Petition for Appeal and Suspension and Appeal is filed by the City of Wheeling ("City" or "Wheeling") from a final decision entered on November 12, 2021, and the denial on December 1, 2021, by the Public Service Commission of West Virginia ("Commission" or "PSC") of the City's timely filed Petition for Reconsideration. The two Orders were entered by the Commission in an investigation proceeding that the Commission initiated when the City of Benwood ("Benwood"), a purchaser of resale sewer treatment services, filed a complaint against Wheeling regarding revised rates for resale sewer treatment services under *West Virginia Code* §24-2-1(b)(6). This Petition is filed pursuant to the provisions of *West Virginia Code* §24-5-1 and W. Va. R. App. Proc. 14(d). Pursuant to W. Va. R. App. Proc. 10(c)(4), this is a concise account of the history of this case.

This case involves the time period during which the PSC has authority to review the rates of a locally rate regulated municipal water utility. In 2015, the Legislature revised the system of

¹ This Petition is filed within thirty days of the November 12, 2021 Order because it is unclear whether, for purposes of appeal, the City's Petition would be timely filed if filed within thirty days of the December 1, 2021 Order. In 2018, the PSC moved this Court to dismiss a petition for appeal as premature because a petition for reconsideration of the final Commission decision had been filed, the Commission's powers and jurisdiction are continuing in nature, and an order issued following consideration of the petition for reconsideration would constitute the ultimate judgment of the Commission. This Court granted the Commission's motion and dismissed the petition for appeal as "interlocutory." Sierra Club v. Public Serv. Comm'n, No. 18-0513, Order at 1 (Oct. 4, 2018).

For many years prior to 2018, the Commission held that the filing of a Petition for Reconsideration did not stay the finality of an Order of the Commission unless a stay of a final decision had been requested when a petition for reconsideration was filed and such stay had been granted. *E.g.*, Zecco v. Hope Gas., Inc., dba Dominion Hope, Case No. 05-0821-G-C, Comm'n Order at 5-6 (Nov. 10, 2005); General Investigation Into Capacity Improvement Fees Charged By The Berkeley County Public Service Sewer District and Berkeley County Public Service District, Case No. 09-0961-PSWD-GI, Comm'n Order at 10 & Conclusion of Law No. 8 (Aug. 7, 2012).

Wheeling is not aware of another decision in which the Commission or the Court applied the position taken by the Commission before this Court in <u>Sierra Club</u> subsequent to the <u>Sierra Club</u> case.

utility regulation for political subdivisions of this state providing water and/or sewer service that have at least 4,500 customers and \$3 million dollars in annual revenues from utility customers.

West Virginia Code §§24-2-1(b) & 24-2-4a(a). Wheeling meets these criteria.

Wheeling sets the rates and charges for its public utility sewer services by municipal ordinance, and those utility rates and charges now are outside of the purview of the PSC almost entirely. In a change from the prior regulatory framework, the Commission no longer has authority to suspend or change Wheeling's rates as an interim measure during the pendency of a complaint from a wholesale customer. West Virginia Code §24-2-1(b)(6) provides that the rates set by the political subdivision shall remain in effect from the effective date of the ordinance until set aside, altered or amended by the Commission in an order to be followed in the future following the timely filing of a request for an investigation.

West Virginia Code §24-2-1(b)(6) authorizes the Commission to act during a period of 120 days from the filing of a request for an investigation by a wholesale customer. The 120-day time period may be tolled by the Commission until information the Commission considers necessary is filed to show the basis of the rates, fees, and charges. On two occasions in this proceeding, the Commission required Wheeling to provide additional information and tolled, or suspended, the running of the statutory period.²

The Complaint and request for investigation was filed by Benwood on May 31, 2021. On June 2, 2021, the Commission issued its Order requiring Wheeling to provide information, including a customer class cost of service study ("CCOSS"), to be filed no later than 30 days from the date of the Order, and tolling the statutory time period, for the first time, for 45 days resulting in a statutory deadline of October 15, 2021. Because West Virginia Code § 24-2-1(b)(6) permits the Commission to toll, or suspend, the running of the 120-day statutory period "until the necessary information showing the basis of the rates, fees, and charges or other information as the commission considers necessary is filed," the Commission did not have authority to toll for 45 days.

On July 2, 2021, Wheeling filed the information required by the June 2, 2021 Order. Thereafter, on July 15, 2021, after being made aware of errors in the CCOSS by Commission Staff, Wheeling filed a revised CCOSS. On July 19, 2021, the Staff filed a request for a further tolling of 13 days in order to

On October 26, 2021, just two days prior to the expiration of the statutory period in which the Commission had statutory authority to resolve the dispute (as extended by the two tolling orders), the Commission entered an order on its own motion, writing that the case was complex and the Commission needed an additional period of fifteen days to render its decision.³ In that order, the Commission stated that a new 120-day period, starting on July 15, 2021, the date that Wheeling filed its Revised Class Cost of Service Study would expire on November 12, 2021. This third tolling calculation by the PSC is not authorized by *West Virginia Code* §24-2-1(b)(6) for the following reasons:

- (1) The statute permits tolling of the 120-day period that begins on the date that a complaint is filed. The Commission does not have authority to start the running of the 120-day review period at a later date.
- The statute permits tolling, or suspension, of the statutory period until information necessary to show the basis of the rates, fees, charges or other information deemed necessary is filed. No additional information beyond that which was filed by Wheeling on July 15, 2021, was deemed necessary to be filed by the Commission's October 26, 2021 Order to enable the Commission to resolve the complaint.
- (3) The statute does not permit additional time because a matter is complex and the Commission requires more time.

review the revised CCOSS. On July 22, 2021, the Commission issued its second tolling order and tolled the statutory time period for an additional 13 days resulting in a statutory deadline of October 28, 2021.

³ In its December 1, 2021 Order denying Wheeling's Petition for Reconsideration and Motion for Stay, the Commission abandoned its justification for needing extra time to resolve the complaint. Instead, it stated that its July 22, 2021 Order "did not invoke its full authority to toll the decision due date by 120 days from the date Wheeling filed its Revised Study. . . and the Commission recognized and corrected this oversight when it issued its October 26, 2021, Order that tolled the decision due date of this dispute 120 days from July 15, 2021."

In addition to being contrary to the statute, the method used by the Commission in the third tolling calculation is inconsistent with the first two tolling calculations in this proceeding and with prior Commission orders regarding tolling. Tolling requests are not infrequent at the PSC, and the Commission has explained that tolling is a suspension of an existing time period. In the third tolling calculation, the Commission acted arbitrarily and capriciously by starting a new 120-day clock instead of suspending and reinstating the running of the existing time period.

The final Order entered on November 12, 2021, and the Commission Order on reconsideration entered on December 1, 2021, if permitted to stand, will undo the limitation on Commission jurisdiction set forth in *West Virginia Code* §24-2-1(b)(6) and allow the Commission to select the time period in which to resolve a dispute between a wholesale customers and a locally rate regulated utility. The final Commission Order is contrary to law and represents bad public policy that will adversely affect not only the City of Wheeling, but other locally rate regulated municipalities and public service districts as well as lenders and investors who rely upon the expectation that the Commission will adhere to the statutory scheme established by the Legislature to assure the integrity of the rates that support their investments in the state's publicly owned utility systems.

Procedural Background before the Commission.4

Benwood purchases wholesale⁵ sewage treatment services from Wheeling.

⁴ The procedural background presented herein is intended to comply with the concise account of the procedural history of the case and a statement of the facts relevant to the assignments of error as required by W. Va. R. App. Pro. 10(c)(4). The full procedural background is set forth in the November 12, 2021 Commission Order, which will be part of the record of the proceedings that the Commission will transmit to the Clerk of the West Virginia Supreme Court pursuant to W. Va. R. App. Pro. 14(f).

⁵ The terms "wholesale" and "resale" are used interchangeably in this matter regarding the sewage treatment services that Wheeling provides to other utility entities.

On April 6, 2021, Wheeling passed an ordinance revising the rate charged for wholesale sewage treatment services to \$3.68 per thousand gallons (\$3.68/Mgal) effective May 21, 2021. On April 14, 2021, the ordinance was filed with the Public Service Commission. ORDUS Wheeling 21B.

On May 3, 2021, Benwood filed a complaint at the PSC, pursuant to *West Virginia Code* §24-2-l(b)(6), against Wheeling and asked the Commission to set aside Wheeling's \$3.68/Mgal rate and calculate a new rate in its place. Benwood Formal Complaint at 1-5 (May 3, 2021).

On June 2, 2021, the Commission entered its Order acknowledging Benwood's filing of the complaint and concluded that Wheeling's April 14, 2021 ordinance filing did not include all of the information the Commission believed necessary to show the basis of Wheeling's rates, fees, and charges to allow the Commission to evaluate Benwood's complaint. The Commission required Wheeling to provide additional information within 30 days, including a Class Cost of Service Study, and referred the case to the Division of Administrative Law Judges for further proceedings. The Commission also tolled the running of the 120-day statutory period for 45 days stating that the statutory decision due date would be Friday, October 15, 2021. Comm'n Referral Order at 2-4 (June 2, 2021).

On July 2, 2021, Wheeling filed the information required by the Commission's June 2, 2021 Order, including a Class Cost of Service Study. Following receipt and review of the information, Commission Staff informed Wheeling that there were errors in the Class Cost of Service Study.

On July 15, 2021, Wheeling filed a Revised Class Cost of Service Study to address the Staff's issues.

On July 19, 2021, the Staff filed its Motion Seeking A 13-Day Tolling of the statutory time period under the provisions of *West Virginia Code* §24-2-l(b)(6) to enable Staff to conduct an analysis of the Revised Study; and further requested that the Commission "grant any additional relief the Commission deems appropriate under the premises." The period of the thirteen days tolling request was based on the period of time from July 2, 2021 when the original Class Cost of Service Study was filed to July 15, 2021 when the Revised Class Cost of Service Study was filed.

On July 22, 2021, the Commission granted the Staff's July 19, 2021 Motion and extended the statutory decision due date until October 28, 2021. The Commission also extended the deadline for the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") to issue a Recommended Decision to September 18, 2021. Comm'n Order at 3-4 (July 22, 2021).

The ALJ conducted a telephonic hearing on August 17, 2021, after which initial and reply briefs were filed by Wheeling, Benwood, Staff and Amicus Curiae West Virginia Water Development Authority ("WDA").

On September 13, 2021, the ALJ issued his Recommended Decision and approved the \$3.68/Mgal sewer treatment rate that Wheeling set by Ordinance. Rec. Dec. at 24 (Sept. 13, 2021).

On September 24, 2021, Benwood filed exceptions to the Recommended Decision, and on September 28, 2021, Commission Staff filed Exceptions. Benwood Exceptions at 1-5 (Sept. 24, 2021); Staff Exceptions & Brief in Support of Exceptions at 1-7 (Sept. 28, 2021).

Wheeling responded to the Benwood Exceptions and Staff Exceptions. Wheeling Reply to Benwood Exceptions at 1-5 (Oct. 4, 2021); Wheeling Reply to Staff Exceptions at 1-10 (Oct. 12, 2021). The WDA also responded to the Staff Exceptions. WDA Response to Staff Exceptions at 1-7 (Oct. 7, 2021).

On October 26, 2021, upon its own motion, the Commission entered an Order further extending the time period to resolve the dispute between Benwood and Wheeling, writing,

Given the complexity of this case and need for additional time for Commission consideration and review, the Commission will invoke its authority under W. Va. Code §24-2-1(b)(6) to toll the statutory period 120 days from the date Wheeling filed a Revised Study, being July 15, 2021. The statutory deadline in this case should be extended to November 12, 2021.

Comm'n Order at 3 (Oct. 26, 2021).

On November 12, 2021, the Commission issued its final Order and, among other things, recalculated the rate for wholesale sewer treatment services to \$2.87/Mgal. The Commission required Wheeling to charge the lower wholesale rate beginning on the date of the Order. Comm'n Order at 13 & App. A (Nov. 12, 2021).

On November 22, 2021, Wheeling filed a Petition for Reconsideration of Final Commission Order and Motion for Stay. Wheeling argued that the Commission did not have subject matter jurisdiction when it entered the November 12, 2021 Order because the Commission acted after the expiration of the time period provided in the statute. If the Commission would not vacate the November 12, 2021 Order, Wheeling asked the Commission to grant a stay of that Order pending appeal. Wheeling Petition for Reconsideration of Final Commission Order and Motion for Stay at 1-12 (Nov. 22, 2021).

On December 1, 2021, the Commission denied Wheeling's Petition for Reconsideration and Motion for Stay, writing that "W. Va. Code §24-2-1(b)(6) authorizes the Commission to toll

the 120-day period for resolution of this dispute from July 15, 2021." Comm'n Order at 3-6 (Dec. 1, 2021).

Factual Background.

Wheeling challenges the third tolling calculation made by the PSC on October 26, 2021. For political subdivisions that provide sewer service and have at least 4,500 customers and annual gross revenues of \$3 million or more *West Virginia Code* §24-2-1(b)(6) authorizes the Commission to investigate certain disputes between a political subdivision and a resale customer as follows:

Investigation and resolution of disputes between a political subdivision of the state providing wholesale water and/or wastewater treatment or other services, whether by contract or through a tariff, and its customer or customers, including, but not limited to, rates, fees, and charges, service areas and contested utility combinations: Provided, That any request for an investigation relating to such a dispute that is based on the act or omission of the political subdivision shall be filed within 30 days of the act or omission of the political subdivision and the commission shall resolve said dispute within 120 days of filing. The 120-day period for resolution of the dispute may be tolled by the commission until the necessary information showing the basis of the rates, fees, and charges or other information as the commission considers necessary is filed: Provided, however, That the disputed rates, fees, and charges so fixed by the political subdivision providing separate or combined water and/or sewer services shall remain in full force and effect until set aside, altered or, amended by the commission in an order to be followed in the future. (emphasis provided).

This appeal is narrowly drawn. The language of *West Virginia Code* §24-2-1(b)(6) and in the Commission Orders and the dates relevant provide the essential facts in relation to Wheeling's Assignments of Error.

⁶ July 15, 2021 is the date on which Wheeling filed its Revised Class Cost of Service Study.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Created by statute, the Commission has only the powers delegated to it by the West Virginia Legislature. Generally, the Legislature has given broad authority to the Commission to regulate public utilities. West Virginia Code §24-2-1(b)(6), enacted in 2015, was one of several recent statutory amendments that limit the PSC's jurisdiction over the actions of publicly owned water and sewer utilities.

West Virginia Code §24-2-1(b)(6) provides 120 days, subject to tolling under specific circumstances, for the Commission to resolve a rate dispute between a wholesale customer and a locally rate regulated utility. The statute provides that the time period of 120 days to resolve complaints under this section of the Code is calculated from the date of the filing of the wholesale customer's complaint. The Commission does not have subject matter jurisdiction over such complaints except during the 120-day time period. The Commission did not have subject matter jurisdiction to resolve the dispute between Benwood and Wheeling when the Commission issued orders on November 12, 2021 and December 1, 2021. Wheeling asks this Court to vacate those orders.

West Virginia Code §24-2-1(b)(6) permits the Commission to toll the 120-day period "until the necessary information showing the basis of the rates, fees, and charges or other information as the commission considers necessary is filed." The Commission twice tolled the running of the statutory period. On its own motion, the Commission decided to toll for third time, explaining that the case is complex and the Commission needed more time for its review. The third tolling of the statutory time period was not accompanied by a requirement that Wheeling provide any further information than that which had been provided on July 15, 2021 and had triggered the Commission's second tolling order on July 22, 2021. West Virginia Code

§24-2-1(b)(6) does not authorize the Commission to toll the running of the statutory period to give itself additional time to review the information that had previously been filed and which formed the basis for the earlier tolling,

The Commission, consistent with prior Commission decisions that have explained that "to toll" is "to suspend," correctly suspended the running of an existing time period in the first two tolling orders from the date of the Benwood filing. The Commission acted arbitrarily and capriciously in the third tolling decision by starting a new 120-day time period based upon the date that Wheeling filed the Revised Class Cost of Service Study. Further, when it entered the third tolling Order without requiring additional information to resolve the dispute, the Commission exceeded its statutory authority.

The Commission exceeded its statutory jurisdiction and powers, and the Commission's decision is thus *ultra vires*. Wheeling asks this Court, therefore, to vacate the orders entered on November 12, 2021 and December 1, 2021 by the PSC.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

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