FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA CHARLESTON



City of Wheeling, Petitioner DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

vs.)

No. 21-1001

The Public Service Commission of West Virginia And the City of Benwood, Respondents

STATEMENT OF THE RESPONDENT
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA
OF ITS REASONS FOR THE ENTRY OF ITS ORDERS OF
NOVEMBER 12, 2021 AND DECEMBER 1, 2021 IN CASE NO. 21-0372-S-WI

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA By Counsel,

> JESSICA M. LANE, ESQ. WV Bar No. 7040 jlane@psc.state.wv.us

NATALIE E. THOMAS, ESQ. WV Bar No. 11744 nthomas@psc.state.wv.us

> 201 Brooks Street Charleston, WV 25301 (304) 340-0300

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

² This brief uses the descriptor "locally rate regulated" to refer to a political subdivision of the state providing water or sewer services and having at least 4,500 customers and annual gross combined revenues of \$3 million dollars or more. Several statutes in Chapter 24 of the Code address the reduced level of regulation applicable to these public utilities. W. Va. Code §§ 24-2-1(b); 24-2-2; 24-2-3; 24-2-4a; 24-2-4b; 24-2-11.

Code §§8-11-4; 16-13-16; 24-1-1(j). Therefore, unless the utility voluntarily files cost-based information with its ordinance, the Commission does not have financial justification for the utility's rates when they go into effect. Wheeling did not file rate justification when it filed its municipal ordinance on April 14, 2021.

The rationale for municipal and larger public service district local rate regulation, in lieu of Commission rate regulation, is that customers of political subdivision utilities are also voters in a locality and may express their objections or support for utility ratemaking and governance through the ballot box. Wholesale customers like Benwood that purchase water or wastewater from a locally rate regulated municipal utility like Wheeling, are often smaller cities or public service districts located outside the large municipality's city limits. As such, in contrast to Wheeling's customers within city limits, Benwood has no ability through the ballot box to object or express support for municipal utility rates and governance. To avoid burdening circuit courts with utility rate disputes and to ensure due process for wholesale customers like Benwood, the Legislature delegated adjudication of wholesale customer complaints against locally rate regulated municipal water and wastewater utilities to the Commission. W. Va. Code §24-2-1(b)(6).

When Commission jurisdiction over a locally rate regulated water or wastewater utility rate is invoked by a wholesale customer formal complaint, <u>W. Va. Code</u> §24-2-1(b)(6) ensures due process for a customer like Benwood, by acknowledging that the Commission should have before it all necessary rate justification from Wheeling in order to adjudicate the complaint. This is just and reasonable because the Commission is unable to make a reasoned decision until it has necessary information. Further, the proviso at issue

in this case ensures that the Commission will have time (120 days) to evaluate the information and issue a final order resolving the rate dispute.

The 120-day period for resolution of the dispute may be tolled by the Commission until the necessary information showing the basis of the rates, fees, and charges or other information as the commission considers necessary is filed.

W. Va. Code §24-2-1(b)(6). In the instant case, only Wheeling, and not the Commission or Benwood, had control over whether and when the Commission had the necessary financial information before it.

Upon receipt of the necessary information, the Commission has a statutory duty to "[e]nsure that rates and charges for utility services are just, reasonable, applied without unjust discrimination or preference ... and based primarily on the costs of providing these services." W. Va. Code §24-1-1(a)(4). Without the necessary information showing the basis of a rate charged to a wholesale customer, the Commission is unable to determine whether that rate is just, reasonable, applied without unjust discrimination or preference and is based primarily on the costs to provide service. The purpose of the proviso is to ensure the Commission, upon receipt of all necessary information, has 120 days to investigate the disputed rates and ensure that the disputed rates meet the requirements of W. Va. Code §24-1-1(a)(4).

B. The complexity of the case had no bearing on the number of days that the Commission is permitted by law to review a wholesale customer complaint against a locally rate regulated municipal utility.

The complexity of this wholesale customer complaint case had no impact on the fact that November 12, 2021 was 120 days from the date Wheeling filed the information

necessary for the Commission to evaluate the rate issues in this case. The Commission referenced the complexity of the case in its October 26, 2021 Order only to explain why the full 120 day review period as provided in W. Va. Code §24-2-1(b)(6) was necessary in lieu of a shorter period. The October 26, 2021 Order calculated the statutory decision date that the Commission could have established at any time after Wheeling filed the necessary information on July 15, 2021.

C. The Public Service Commission did not act arbitrarily and capriciously when it tolled the decision due date until November 12, 2021.

The Commission's decision to toll the resolution date was authorized by <u>W. Va.</u>

<u>Code</u> §24-2-1(b)(6) and was not arbitrary or capricious.

The word "toll" in W. Va. Code §24-2-1(b)(6) means that the Commission may establish a review period that will end 120 days from the date the Commission has all necessary information before it to resolve a complaint. Wheeling argues, incorrectly, that the word "toll" should mean to place the review period on hold. Under Wheeling's "place on hold" interpretation, the 120-day decision clock would start on the day a complaint is filed regardless of whether the Commission has before it any information it needs to evaluate the case. The days following the filing date and before (i) a response from the locally rate regulated utility voluntarily providing necessary financial justification, or (ii) a Commission order requiring the utility to provide necessary information and tolling the statutory period, would simply be lost days that reduce the parties' and the Commission's time to evaluate the case when it finally does have necessary information before it.

Under Wheeling's "place on hold" interpretation, the time allowed to the parties and the Commission to review the supporting rate information, once it is filed, would be less than 120 days. Such an outcome would be unjust because the utility alone has control over when it provides the Commission with necessary information. Moreover, the Commission could be forced to render a premature decision without having time to evaluate the rate issues. If a utility is recalcitrant in providing support for its rate ordinance, a case could require repeated Commission orders to file necessary information and successive incomplete or inadequate responsive filings by the utility. Each order and response would tick away more days from the 120-day review period. Taken to the extreme, the Commission could be left with an absurdly brief period of time to evaluate the case. A utility that lacks any cost-based support for its rate increase would have an incentive to delay its responses to Commission requests for information in order to run down the clock.

The Legislature has not defined the word "toll" in <u>W. Va. Code</u> Chapter 24. If this Court concludes that the Legislature has not directly spoken to the precise definition of "toll" in <u>W. Va. Code</u> §24-2-1(b)(6), then the Commission's interpretation is the only permissible construction to ensure a reasoned decision in a complaint like the Benwood complaint. When determining whether a state agency's (Division of Motor Vehicles) statutory interpretation should be sustained, this Court has stated,

we apply the standards set out by the United States Supreme Court in *M U.S.A.*, *Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 837, 104 S. Ct. 2778, 81 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1984). We first ask whether the Legislature has "directly spoken to the precise [legal] question at issue." *Chevron*, 467 U.S. at 842, 104 S. Ct. at 2781, 81 L. Ed. 2d at 702-03. "If the intention of the Legislature is clear, that is the end of the matter." *Id.* If it is not, we may not simply impose our own construction of the statute. "Rather, if the statute

is silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue, the question for the court is whether the [DMV's] answer is based on a permissible construction of the statute." *Chevron*, 467 U.S. at 843, 104 S. Ct. at 2782, 81 L. Ed. 2d at 703. *See Pauley v. Bethenergy Mines Inc.*, 501 U.S. 680, 696-98, 111 S. Ct. 2524, 2534, 115 L. Ed. 2d 604, 623-25 (1991). In the present case, it is clear that the Legislature has not spoken to the precise question at issue. Therefore, we review the DMV's decision to determine whether its construction is one the Legislature would have sanctioned. *See United States v. Shimer*, 367 U.S. 374, 383, 81 S. Ct. 1554, 1560-61, 6 L. Ed. 2d 908, 915 (1961).

Sniffin v. Cline, 193 W. Va. 370, 374, 456 S.E.2d 451, 455 (1995). See also, Syllabus Point 1 of Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't., 195 W.Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995). In upholding the DMV interpretation of statute, this Court stated,

. . . absent clear legislative intent to the contrary, we afford deference to a reasonable and permissible construction of the statute by the DMV because it has policymaking authority with regard to the statute.

Here, the DMV's construction, as reflected in its brief submitted in this case, is reasonable, supported by the law, not contrary to legislative intent, and is consistent with this Court's prior decisions. We further find that the DMV's answer is a reasonable accommodation of potentially conflicting policies that were committed to the DMV by the statute. Because we find DMV's construction is one the Legislature would have sanctioned, we defer to that interpretation and, accordingly reverse the circuit court.

Sniffin, 193 W. Va. at 374, 456 S.E.2d at 455. This Court has also stated,

An inquiring court--even a court empowered to conduct *de novo* review-must examine a regulatory interpretation of a statute by standards that include appropriate deference to agency expertise and discretion.

Appalachian Power, 195 W. Va. at 582, 466 S.E.2d at 433.

The "may be tolled" proviso of <u>W. Va. Code</u> §24-2-1(b)(6) means that if the Commission does not have all the necessary information before it at the time a complaint is filed (because the utility did not file it with its rate ordinance or on the date the complaint

was filed), then the Commission has authority to determine that the 120-day review period begins on the date the utility files the necessary information. The Commission interpretation is permissible because it prevents an irrational result of Benwood expending its resources to prosecute its complaint before the Commission only to receive an inadequate and hasty evaluation of its rate issues. A well established cannon of statutory construction counsels against an irrational result. "It is the 'duty of this Court to avoid whenever possible a construction of a statute which leads to absurd, inconsistent, unjust or unreasonable results." Charter Communs. Vi v. Cmty. Antenna Serv., 211 W. Va. 71, 77, 561 S.E.2d 793, 799 (2002) (citations omitted).

Wheeling also seems to argue that because the Commission, in cases³ governed by a different statute, <u>W. Va. Code</u> §24-2-11, referred to a utility request to extend a statutory review period as a request "to toll, or suspend", that wording forever defines "toll" as placing on hold, even for cases governed by a different statute. This argument is unpersuasive because the two statutes have completely separate purposes and because <u>W. Va. Code</u> §24-2-11 does not contain the proviso at issue in this case. Furthermore, the Legislature has not defined "toll" in Chapter 24. The Black's Law Dictionary definition of "toll" does not foreclose construction of <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-2-1(b)(6) as applied in this case because the definition of "toll" includes annul, take away, abate, and stop.

toll, vb. (15c) 1. To annul or take away <toll a right of entry>2. (Of a time period, esp. a statutory one) to stop the running of; to abate <toll the limitations period>. See EQUITABLE TOLLING. 3. *Hist*. To raise or collect a tax or due for the use of something.

³ Petitioner's brief at 21-22.

Black's Law Dictionary, 11th Ed. (2019). Nothing in the definition precludes the Commission from tolling the review period so that it began on the date the utility filed information necessary to evaluate its rate.

Wheeling seems to argue that if the Commission grants a party's request to set a decision due date earlier than that the maximum period allowed, as it did in this case⁴, or, if the Commission sets a goal for itself to resolve a complaint sooner than 120 days from the date necessary information is before it, but then comes to understand that it needs the full statutorily allowed review period, the Commission is prohibited from using the full period. Wheeling's position must fail because the Legislature could not have intended to delegate adjudication of a wholesale customer complaint to the Commission but force the Commission to arbitrarily decide rate issues when it has not had adequate time to analyze the issues, review the financial data, and reach a reasoned decision.

The Commission agrees with the Wheeling statement in footnote 10 on page 16 of its Petition that the Commission improperly presumed a statutory decision date of October 15, 2021 in its June 2, 2021 Order when it ordered Wheeling to provide supporting information for its rate increase within 30 days. The Commission agrees with Wheeling on this point because on June 2 it was unknown when Wheeling would actually file that information. The 120-day clock begins only when the Commission has received "necessary information showing the basis of the rates, fees, and charges or other information as the commission considers necessary." If Wheeling had filed the correct

⁴ Comm'n Order July 22, 2021.

information on the next day of June 3, then the statutory decision due date would have to be 120 days later, or October 1, 2021, and the June 2, 2021 Order stating an October 15 statutory date would have been incorrect.

Wheeling fails to acknowledge, however, that when Wheeling did not provide the "corrected" necessary information until July 15, the statutory decision date became November 12, 2021. In other words, until the Commission knows with certainty when the correct "necessary information showing the basis of the rates, fees, and charges or other information as the commission considers necessary" will be before it, the statutory 120-day due date is not known with certainty.

The fact is that Wheeling did not file the corrected necessary financial information until July 15, and the Commission correctly recognized that the 120-day statutory decision date was 120 days from that date, or November 12. Intervening pronouncements by the Commission that the expected statutory decision date is anything less or more than 120 days from the date that it has received "necessary information showing the basis of the rates, fees, and charges or other information as the commission considers necessary," may be considered scheduling targets, but would not represent the statutorily required decision date pursuant to W. Va. Code §24-2-1(b)(6). Once the Commission received the correct financial justification for Wheeling's rate increase on July 15, the statutory 120-day decision date was November 12, not sooner and not later.

D. The substantive result of the Commission Orders was proper and is not before the Court on appeal.

The substantive result of the Commissions Orders on the underlying complaint was proper and is not on appeal to this Court. Comm'n Orders November 12, 2021 and December 1, 2021. The Commission reviewed the complex rate issues presented in the complaint and pursuant to W. Va. Code §24-1-1(a)(4), made a reasoned determination, based on findings of fact and conclusions of law, of a just, reasonable, non-discriminatory resale rate based on the Wheeling's costs to provide service. The effect of the Commission decision is that the Wheeling wholesale customers, including Benwood, are paying a lower rate for sewage treatment service than they would under the Wheeling ordinance. The substantive result of the Commission's use of its 120-day review period was also proper because it allowed the Commission 120 days to fully evaluate the issues and reach a reasoned decision.

E. Voiding the Commission's Orders could burden a circuit court with readjudication of this rate complaint.

The Commission had primary jurisdiction over the Benwood complaint, but if the Commission Orders of November 12, 2021 and December 1, 2021 are determined to be void for lack of jurisdiction, Wheeling will reinstate its unjustified higher resale rate charged to Benwood and other resale customers. Benwood's administrative remedies, however, will be exhausted. Consistent with <u>W. Va. Code</u> §24-4-7 and with prior ruling of this Court, Benwood may then file its complaint in circuit court.

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